

The Value of Micro-Credentials to Employers and Learners

Future Ready Series 2025 May 2025





Future Ready 2025: 2

This white paper explores the value of micro-credentials as a transformative force in education and workforce development. Positioned within the *Future Ready Series*, it moves beyond academic theorising to offer a practical, stakeholder-focused analysis. Drawing on current research, industry trends, and global frameworks, the paper highlights how micro-credentials enable more adaptive, skills-based, and learner-centred systems.

About the Authors



Dr Marcus Bowles,
Chair, The Institute for Working Futures Pty Ltd &
Hon. Professor, Torrens University Australia

Dr Marcus Bowles is Chair of The Institute for Working Futures and holds honorary professorial appointments at leading global universities. His work focuses on building education and employment ecosystems that promote equitable access to emerging careers, particularly for regional and disadvantaged communities. For over 25 years, Marcus has led the development of the Human Capability Standards (HCS25), advancing the recognition of transferable skills critical to individual and workforce resilience. Since 2014, he has supported governments, professions, and employers in designing micro-credentials and lifelong learning solutions that strengthen capability development, workforce participation, and career mobility in a rapidly changing economy.



Dr Samrat Ghosh,
Associate Head Future Students, University of Tasmania

Dr Samrat Ghosh is Associate Head, Future Students, and a senior academic at the University of Tasmania, specialising in authentic assessment and the design of competency-based curriculum solutions that connect learning to careers. He also advises Capability.Co on the academic assessment of microcredentials and work-based learning programs. With research focus on authentic assessment, employability pathways, and micro-credentialing, Samrat plays a key role in shaping scalable, futureready education solutions. His work bridges academic rigour with practical reform, helping institutions develop inclusive, outcomes-driven learning ecosystems that meet the evolving needs of learners and the workforce.

Copyright

© Capability.Co. May 2025

This work is copyright. Apart from any use as permitted under the Copyright Act 1968, no part may be reproduced by any process without prior written permission from Capability.Co.

Contents

Executive Summary	v
Introduction	6
Understanding the Value of Micro-Credentials	7
Instrumental and Subjective Value Dimensions	8
Global Context and Recognition	8
Quality and Credibility	8
Durable, Transferable, Human Skills and Capabilities	9
Stackability and Portability	9
Accessibility and Equity	10
Why Context Matters	11
Economic Drivers	11
Workforce Evolution	11
Institutional Adaptation	11
Looking Ahead: Trends That Will Shape the Future of Micro-Credential	s12
Strategic Insight for Implementation	12
Global Recognition and Standards	12
Future Directions and Emerging Trends	13
Conclusion	14
References	15



The Value of Micro-Credentials to Employers and Learners

Executive Summary

Micro-credentials have emerged as a transformative force in education and workforce development. This white paper explores their practical value to employers, learners, and institutions, moving beyond academic theory to deliver stakeholder-focused insights.

Drawing on global trends and recent research, we demonstrate how micro-credentials support more adaptive, skills-based, and learner-centred approaches to education and training. Their value is twofold: they produce tangible outcomes—such as improved employability, workforce readiness, and organisational capability—and foster subjective benefits, including enhanced learner confidence, work-based learning, and social mobility.

The paper outlines key implementation strategies, contextual considerations, and future trends—such as AI integration, digital credentialing, and the rise of skills passports—that are influencing adoption by education providers, employers, and governments. It concludes with recommendations for embedding micro-credentials into national learning pathways, policy reform, and institutional strategies aligned with developing durable, transferable, general skills and human capabilities.

Introduction

Micro-credentials are often highlighted in educational literature as effective tools for structuring learning outcomes and aligning with curriculum design. But this perspective misses the point. For businesses and learners alike, the real value of micro-credentials lies not in the content that's completed, but in **capability uplift**. Employers view them as fast, flexible tools to identify talent and build workforce readiness. Learners use them to boost employability, signal their long-term potential, or pivot careers in an increasingly uncertain economy.

The rise of micro-credentials marks more than a pedagogical shift; it reflects a growing divide between how education institutions frame value and how the market demands it. These short, targeted, and often stackable credentials are reshaping the interface between learning and work—not as supplements to degrees, but as strategic instruments for economic mobility and workforce renewal (Kato et al., 2020; Oliver, 2019).

As Pichette et al. (2021) note, micro-credentials represent an emerging paradigm. But to realise their full potential, we must move beyond academic models and grapple with how these credentials are being used—to find, grow, and recognise human capability.

Micro-credentials align with key trends in education and work:

- Demand for personalised, on-demand learning (Education Design Lab, 2022)
- Emergence of hybrid and cross-disciplinary jobs (Evans & Robertson, 2022)
- Workforce transitions driven by AI, automation, and demographic change (Bowles, 2023)
- The need to credential learner-centric capabilities such as collaboration, resilience, and innovation (Working Futures, 2020)



Understanding the Value of Micro-Credentials

Micro-credentials offer both measurable outcomes and deeply personal benefits. To understand their full value, we must explore how different stakeholder groups experience these credentials. Key stakeholders include individual learners (students, careerswitchers, displaced workers), employers (organisations seeking adaptable, future-ready talent), and education providers (institutions designing and delivering credential offerings). Each group perceives and derives value differently—whether through career advancement, workforce agility, institutional innovation, or learner empowerment. These

differences help explain why micro-credentials are gaining traction across education, employment, and policy spheres.

Micro-credentials are less about content—they are about capability

The significance of micro-credentials is influenced by the specific needs and priorities of the four main stakeholder groups (Oliver, 2019; Varadarajan, Koh, & Daniel, 2023). For learners, micro-credentials

create pathways to career mobility, personal growth, and recognised achievement. Employers view them as mechanisms to enhance talent acquisition, workforce agility, and capability assurance. Education providers see opportunities to drive innovation, strengthen learner engagement, and maintain market relevance. Governments increasingly position micro-credentials as instruments for advancing workforce development, promoting social inclusion, and strengthening national skills recognition systems. Recognising these diverse perspectives is essential to understanding the instrumental and subjective dimensions of micro-credential value.

Table 1. Stakeholder Value Dimensions of Micro-Credentials

Value	Components	Primary Stakeholder & Perceived Benefits	Measurement
	Career Advancement	Learners: Enhanced employability, Role progression	Promotion rates, Salary increases
Instrumental	Skill Application	Employer: Direct workplace impact, Performance improvement	Productivity & performance metrics, Time-to-competency
monumental	Organisational Efficiency	Employer: Reduced training costs, Faster deployment	Training ROI, Human Capital Value
	Market Positioning	Employer: Competitive advantage, Adaptive capacity	Market share, Innovation metrics, Responsiveness
Subjective	Personal Growth	Learners: Professional confidence, Self-efficacy	Engagement surveys, Self- assessment
	Professional Identity	Learners: Career advancement, Expert recognition	Network growth, Professional visibility
	Learning Motivation	Educational Providers: Educational engagement, Development mindset	Completion rates, Future enrolment
	Workplace Readiness	Employers: Team integration, Cultural alignment, future priorities	Employee satisfaction, Retention rates

Instrumental and Subjective Value Dimensions

Micro-credentials offer both instrumental (tangible outcomes) and subjective (perceived or psychological outputs) value to different stakeholder groups (Deming, 2022; Gallagher, 2023). These value dimensions are summarised in Table 1, highlighting how different stakeholders experience both instrumental and subjective benefits from micro-credentials.

Research shows that micro-credentials are most effective when they align with stakeholder needs (Kato et al., 2020; Oliver, 2019).

Research shows that microcredentials are most effective when they align with stakeholder needs

For education providers, micro-credentials offer a way to drive innovation in program delivery, improve learner engagement through modular and flexible pathways, and support retention by offering learners clear, incremental achievements that can build toward full qualifications. Providers increasingly use micro-credentials to create career-aligned learning pathways that can respond to changing industry demands and student needs (Oliver, 2019).

Global Context and Recognition

The internationalisation of education and work adds another dimension to microcredential value. UNESCO's (2024) recent initiatives highlight several critical factors in global credential recognition as outlined in the table below:

Table 2. Key Factors Influencing Global Recognition of Micro-Credentials

Factor	Components	Challenges	Solutions
Standards	Qualification frameworks	Regional variation, Cultural norms	Global alignment, Recognition agreements
Quality Assurance	Accreditation, Verification	Institutional diversity	Standardised protocols, Quality partnerships
Portability	Digital, Cross- border	Legal compliance, Interoperability	Blockchain tech, International consortia
Cultural Context	Local relevance, Inclusion	Language, Cultural misalignment	Localisation strategies, Cultural design

Quality and Credibility

The issue of how accredited providers assure the quality and relevance of microcredentials to meet employer needs has been well explored (Selvaratnam & Sankey, 2021; Varadarajan et al., 2023; Bennett & Oliver, 2023; Desmarchelier & Cary, 2022; DET, 2022). The key features identified across the literature include:

1. Validated assessment design

Assessments must be robust, standards-based, or competency-based to ensure credibility and transparency.

2. Relevant and reviewed content

Content must reflect current industry practices and be reviewed regularly to maintain currency and relevance.

3. Accessible and Feedback-Driven Delivery

Flexible delivery and built-in feedback loops enhance engagement with learning and delivery of learning outcomes.

4. Institutional recognition and accreditation

Endorsement by recognised institutions and alignment to national qualifications frameworks boosts trust and portability.

5. Alignment with industry needs

Industry co-design ensures relevance to current and emerging labour market demands.

6. Clear career development pathways

Stackable micro-credentials must support transitions into full qualifications and career advancement.

7. Responsiveness to market trends

Agility to adapt to technological and economic changes is essential for long-term credential value

8. Integration with organisational strategy

Employers value credentials that contribute to workforce capability planning and performance.

9. Transparency and portability

Clearly defined learning outcomes and alignment with qualification frameworks support learner and employer confidence.

9. Equity and accessibility

Micro-credentials must be accessible across geographies, socio-economic groups, and learning modalities to support inclusion.

Durable, Transferable, Human Skills and Capabilities

Stakeholders consistently prioritise micro-credentials that foster transferable, non-technical capabilities that maintain relevance despite technological disruption and changes to work design. These capabilities consistently appear across global research and frameworks as the most valued human attributes for enduring employability and workforce adaptability. Key examples include (Working Futures, 2020; Education Design Lab, 2022; America Succeeds, 2024):

- Critical Thinking
- Collaboration
- Communication
- Creativity
- Problem-solving
- Resilience
- Empathy
- Cultural Competence
- Leadership

Stackability and Portability

Designing stackable credentials requires more than just modularity; it demands strategic insight into how skills and capabilities interrelate. Stackability represents more than the simple accumulation of micro-credentials; it embodies a sophisticated approach to progressive skill development that aligns with both individual career trajectories and organisational capability needs (Bowles & Harris, 2019).

Research by Pichette et al. (2021) demonstrates that effective stackability requires careful consideration of credential architecture, learning pathways, and recognition frameworks. Breakthrough research by Hosseinioun et al. (2025) further reveals the importance of understanding skill dependencies and adjacencies when designing stackable micro-



credentials. Their work identifies how certain skills—particularly human or generalist capabilities—exhibit nested relationships, where foundational skills enhance the development of more complex competencies over time.

For example, critical thinking capabilities often underpin the development of problem-solving skills, while empathy frequently supports communication, collaboration, and customer service effectiveness. Understanding these dependencies allows for more intelligent credential design, where compatible general skills can be clustered or paired with technical skills to reflect natural skill development patterns. As Hosseinioun et al.

(2025) note, "Credentials that acknowledge the interconnected nature of skill development create more meaningful pathways for learners and more accurate signals for employers" (p. 187).

...human or generalist capabilities exhibit nested relationships, ...[that] enhance the development of more complex competencies over time

Portability, in turn, relies on clear institutional recognition, industry acceptance, and mobility across sectors and borders. Alignment with national qualification frameworks, the use of interoperable

digital platforms, and flexible delivery models are critical to ensuring that micro-credentials are valued beyond the issuing institution (Keevy & Chakroun, 2018; UNESCO, 2024).

Alongside the architectural design of stackable credentials, ensuring broad accessibility and equitable participation remains critical to the success and societal value of microcredential ecosystems.

Accessibility and Equity

The democratising potential of micro-credentials extends beyond simple access to education. HEQCO's (2021) comprehensive study reveals that accessibility encompasses multiple dimensions:

• Financial (cost, ROI)

10

- **Technical** (infrastructure, literacy)
- **Temporal** (flexibility, pacing)
- **Cultural** (relevance, inclusion)

Wheelahan & Moodie (2021) argue that deliberate, inclusive design enables success without compromising quality. However, ensuring access alone is not sufficient. Microcredentials must also respond dynamically to the broader economic forces and workforce transformations shaping demand for skills and capabilities.





Why Context Matters

Micro-credential value is inseparable from economic and workforce realities.

Economic Drivers

The valuation of micro-credentials is intrinsically linked to broader economic and market dynamics. Bowles (2023) presents a framework for understanding this relationship through the lens of organisational adaptive capacity:

Table 3. Economic Drivers Shaping the Value of Micro-Credentials

Driver	Response	Credential Role
Digital transformation	Capability building	Targeted upskilling
Market volatility	Risk mitigation	Adaptive workforce development
Innovation pressure	Knowledge creation Specialised credentialing	
Global competition	Talent strategies	Capability alignment

Workforce Evolution

The evolution of work presents both opportunities and challenges for micro-credential implementation. Capability.Co (2023) identifies emerging patterns in workforce development that directly influence micro-credential effectiveness. Their research reveals a shift away from traditional linear career paths towards more dynamic, situated development models.

This transformation is particularly evident in the increasing interdependence between technical and human capabilities, where success in emerging roles now requires the integration of specialised skills with broader, transferable human attributes.

Table 4. Emerging Workforce Trends and Credential Responses

Trend	Requirement	Credential Response
Remote work	Digital collaboration	Virtual leadership credentials
AI integration	Human-Al interaction	Augmented intelligence certificates
Rapid change	Adaptive learning	Innovation method badges
Diversity	Cross-cultural skills	Global mindset credentials

Institutional Adaptation

Educational institutions face significant pressure to adapt their offerings and delivery models in response to changing market demands. Oliver (2019) presents a comprehensive analysis of institutional innovation in micro-credential development, highlighting the importance of agile response mechanisms and stakeholder engagement. Successful institutional adaptation requires careful consideration of:

- 1. Organisational culture and change readiness
- 2. Technical infrastructure and digital capability
- 3. Faculty development and support
- 4. Quality assurance and recognition frameworks
- 5. Industry partnership development



Looking Ahead: Trends That Will Shape the Future of Micro-Credentials

Micro-credentials are evolving in response to rapid shifts in technology, workforce expectations, and learning delivery. Key developments expected to influence adoption include:

- Al and personalisation (Davidson & Hughes, 2023)
- Cross-disciplinary integration (Evans & Robertson, 2022)
- Digital learner records and wallets (1EdTech, 2021; UNESCO, 2024)
- Global recognition and integration with qualification frameworks (Keevy & Chakroun, 2018)

Strategic Insight for Implementation

The effective implementation of micro-credentials hinges on the strategic integration of emerging technologies with pedagogical innovation. This alignment enables more agile and inclusive forms of learning and credentialing, particularly in fast-evolving industries. According to Education Design Lab (2022), success depends on aligning technological infrastructure—including platforms, digital verification, and analytics—with clearly defined learning objectives, robust assessment methodologies, and processes to validate evidence.

One of the most powerful tools in this space is micro-learning, a modular and flexible approach that supports rapid capability development. Its bite-sized, on-demand format allows learners to engage in focused learning activities in real time and across diverse contexts (Hug, 2015). This not only enhances knowledge retention and learner autonomy, but also significantly increases accessibility and equity, particularly for learners navigating work transitions or social disadvantage. However, these efforts still need to align with institutional and national micro-credentialling models that necessitate certain volume of learning or outcomes before a micro-credential can carry credit into an award course.

In rapidly changing fields—such as AI, cybersecurity, and sustainability—micro-learning is proving especially effective for closing emerging specialist skills gaps (Mohite & Pawar, 2018). By embedding micro-learning into workforce development strategies targeting technical skill gaps, organisations can drive continuous reskilling and upskilling, while fostering more generalist skills and capabilities like resilience, innovation, and customer responsiveness (Teece et al., 1997).

Ultimately, micro-credentials powered by micro-learning offer a practical and scalable pathway to lifelong learning. They help education providers deliver just-in-time, jobrelevant learning, and support employers in building adaptable, future-ready teams that thrive in uncertain environments.

Global Recognition and Standards

12

The internationalisation of work and education underscores the need for global recognition frameworks to ensure the portability of micro-credentials. UNESCO's (2024) initiatives highlight the importance of standardising credential recognition while allowing for local contextualisation.



Organisations like 1EdTech play a key role through interoperable frameworks like the Comprehensive Learner Record (CLR), which enables consistent, portable digital credentials across institutions and platforms.

The adoption of digital wallets and skills passports significantly enhances the portability and trustworthiness of micro-credentials. Digital wallets enable secure, learner-controlled storage and sharing of credentials, facilitating real-time validation by employers and institutions (1EdTech, 2021).

To promote global talent portability, compatibility between qualification systems—such as the European Qualifications Framework (EQF), ASEAN Qualifications Reference Framework (AQRF), and the Australian Qualifications Framework (AQF)—will be critical in standardising recognition and fostering international mobility (Bowles, Ghosh, & Thomas, 2020).

Future Directions and Emerging Trends

Al and Personalisation

The integration of AI technologies is transforming how micro-credentials are designed, delivered, and assessed. Machine learning algorithms increasingly enable personalised learning pathways that adapt to individual learner needs and preferences. Research by Davidson & Hughes (2023) suggests that AI-enabled personalisation must be balanced against the need for standardised outcomes and fair assessment practices.

Cross-disciplinary Integration

The boundaries between traditional academic disciplines continue to blur as emerging job roles demand increasingly diverse skill sets. Micro-credentials are uniquely positioned to address this trend through modular, combinable learning experiences. Evans & Robertson (2022) document how this cross-disciplinary approach enables learners to develop unique skill combinations that align with emerging job roles.

Global Recognition Frameworks

Recent initiatives by international organisations and industry consortia aim to develop standardised frameworks for micro-credential recognition across borders. UNESCO's (2024) latest research highlights the complexity of this challenge, particularly in balancing local relevance with global standardisation.

Table 5. Strategic Responses to Future Trends in Micro-Credentialing

Trend	Opportunities	Challenges	Strategic Responses
Al Integration	Personalised learning, Automated assessment, Predictive analytics	Data privacy, Algorithm bias, Technical infrastructure	Ethical frameworks, Hybrid assessment models, Digital equity initiatives
Cross- disciplinary Learning	Innovation potential, Career flexibility, Market responsiveness	Quality standards, Assessment complexity, Faculty expertise	Collaborative design, Industry partnerships, Competency frameworks
Global Recognition	Market expansion, Talent mobility, Standardisation	Cultural differences, Regulatory variation, Implementation costs	International partnerships, Recognition agreements, Quality frameworks

Turning insight into action

To move from exploration to execution, organisations and educational institutions can take the following actions:

- Embed micro-credentials in national and institutional qualification pathways
- Align to accepted competency or capability standards that define outcomes throughout all stages on a lifelong career journey (Working Futures, 2025)
- Ensure assessment quality, industry validation, and transparency
- Integrate reporting with digital credentialing and any national skills passport or digital wallet platform
- Focus on modular, stackable learning that responds to contextual needs as well as career and industry change

Conclusion

14

The future of micro-credentials lies not merely in recognising that learning has occurred, but in verifying that capability has been uplifted and can be confidently applied across both familiar and evolving contexts. To deliver real value, micro-credentials must signal employability, adaptability, and readiness to contribute—not just the completion of content.

As the economy continues to be reshaped by automation, globalisation, and structural change, the demand is not for more certificates, but for credible evidence of transferable, durable human capabilities. Micro-credentials that capture growth in what a person can do—and who they can become—will define the next phase of learning innovation.

As uncomfortable as it may be for some educators, it's not the number of credentials held—but whether they go beyond what has been learnt to verify the capabilities individuals possess and employers value.





References

- 1. IEdTech Consortium. (2021). *Comprehensive learner record: Empowering learners through portable and verifiable digital credentials.* IEdTech.
- 2. America Succeeds (2024). *Durable Skills Advantage Framework*. America Succeeds & Emsi. Retrieved March 2025 at https://www.durableskillsadvantage.org/download/
- 3. Ashcroft, K., Etmanski, B., Fannon, A.-M., & Pretti, T. J. (2021). Microcredentials and work-integrated learning. International Journal of Work-Integrated Learning, 22(3), 423-432.
- 4. Anderson, T., & McGreal, R. (2021). Disruptive Pedagogies and Technologies in Universities. *Educational Technology & Society*, 24(3), 15-28.
- 5. Bennett, S., & Oliver, M. (2023). Digital Credentials and the Future of Work: Understanding Implementation Frameworks. *Journal of Education and Work*, 36(2), 145–162.
- 6. Billet, S., & Choy, S. (2011). Integrative literatures on skill and work-integrated learning. *The Learning Organization*.
- 7. Bowles, M., Ghosh, S., & Thomas, L. (January 2020). Future-proofing accounting professionals. *Journal of Teaching and Learning for Graduate Employability*, 11(1), 2–23.
- 8. Bowles, M. (2023). Capability building and organisational adaptive capacity: The next normal. Capability.Co.
- 9. Bowles, M. (2024). *Human capability and organisational culture*. Capability.Co.
- 10. Bowles, M., & Harris, R. (2019). Micro-Credentials: A New Frontier in Professional Development. *Australian Journal of Adult Learning*, *59*(3), 356-368.
- 11. Bowles, M., & Chey, M. (2020). Who do we want to be?: Matching human capabilities to organisational culture. Working Futures.
- 12. Capability.Co. (2023). The next normal: Capabilities and the next generation of work. Capability.Co.
- 13. Chen, G., & Smith, K. (2022). Micro-credentials in Global Higher Education: A Comparative Analysis. *Studies in Higher Education*, 47(4), 789-805.
- 14. Coleman, J. S. (1988). Social capital in the creation of human capital. *American Journal of Sociology*, 94, \$95-\$120.
- 15. Davidson, M., & Hughes, E. (2023). The Economics of Micro-credentials: ROI Analysis and Market Dynamics. *Journal of Education Finance*, 48(3), 278-295.
- 16. Desmarchelier, R., & Cary, L. J. (2022). Toward just and equitable micro-credentials: an Australian perspective. *International Journal of Educational Technology in Higher Education*, 19(25).
- 17. Deming, D. J. (2022). Four facts about human capital. Journal of Economic Perspectives, 36(3), 75-102.
- 18. Department of Education [DET]. (March 2022). *National Microcredentials Framework,* Australian Government.
- 19. Education Design Lab (2022). *Durable skills framework*. Education Design Lab.
- 20. Evans, T. R., & Robertson, J. S. (2022). Quality Frameworks for Micro-credentials: *International Perspectives. Quality in Higher Education*, 28(1), 67-84.
- 21. Gallagher, S. (2023). *Digital credentials and talent acquisition tech: Closing the data gap between learning and hiring.* Northeastern University.
- 22. HEQCO (Higher Education Quality Council of Ontario). (2021). *Making sense of microcredentials*. Higher Education Quality Council of Ontario.
- 23. Hug, T. (2015). Didactics of micro-learning: Concepts, discourses, and examples. Waxmann Verlag.
- 24. Keevy, J., & Chakroun, B. (2018). *Digital credentialing: Implications for the recognition of learning across borders.* UNESCO.
- 25. Kato, S., Galán-Muros, V., & Weko, T. (2020). The emergence of alternative credentials. OECD Publishing.
- 26. McKinsey & Company. (2022). *Learning and earning: The bold moves that change careers*. McKinsey Global Institute.
- 27. Mohite, V., & Pawar, B. (2018). The effectiveness of microlearning in improving job performance. *International Journal of Advance Research and Development, 3*(5), 152-158.
- 28. Oliver, B. (2019). *Making micro-credentials work for learners, employers, and providers*. Deakin University.
- 29. Phelan, S., & Glackin, C. (2020). Alternative credentials and the changing face of higher education. OECD.



- 30. Pichette, J., Brumwell, S., Rizk, J., & Han, S. (2021). *Making sense of microcredentials*. Higher Education Quality Council of Ontario.
- 31. Raish, V., & Rimland, E. (2016). Digital literacy in the workplace: Empowering librarians to meet the demand of knowledge economies. *The Journal of Academic Librarianship*.
- 32. Selvaratnam, R. M., & Sankey, M. D. (2021). An integrative literature review of the implementation of microcredentials in higher education: Implications for practice in Australasia. *Journal of Teaching and Learning for Graduate Employability*, 12(1), 1–17.
- 33. Senge, P. M. (1990). The fifth discipline: The art and practice of the learning organization. Doubleday.
- 34. Teece, D. J., Pisano, G., & Shuen, A. (1997). Dynamic capabilities and strategic management. *Strategic Management Journal*, 18(7), 509-533.
- 35. Teece, D. J. (2007). Explicating dynamic capabilities: The nature and microfoundations of (sustainable) enterprise performance. *Strategic Management Journal*, 28(13), 1319-1350.
- 36. UNESCO. (2024). Micro-credentials in higher education: International perspectives. UNESCO.
- 37. Varadarajan, S., Koh, J. H. L., & Daniel, B. K. (2023). A systematic review of the opportunities and challenges of micro-credentials for multiple stakeholders: learners, employers, higher education institutions and government. *International Journal of Educational Technology in Higher Education*, 20(13).
- 38. Wheelahan, L., & Moodie, G. (2021). Gig qualifications for the gig economy: Micro-credentials and the 'hungry mile'. *Higher Education*.
- 39. Working Futures™ (2020). *Human Capability Standards reference Framework*, 3rd Edition, The Institute for Working Futures.
- 40. Working Futures™ (2025). *Human Capability Standards reference Framework*, 4th Edition, The Institute for Working Futures.
- 41. Zollo, M., & Winter, S. G. (2002). Deliberate learning and the evolution of dynamic capabilities. *Organization Science*, 13(3), 339-351.

Al Disclosure Statement

Generative AI tools, including OpenAI's ChatGPT (GPT-4), were used to support the preparation of this article. These tools assisted with structural editing, language refinement, and final formatting. In addition, AI-assisted image generation tools were used to create illustrative graphics that complement the narrative of the article.

All content was reviewed, validated, and finalised by the authors to ensure alignment with the article's original intent, scholarly integrity, and evidence base. No generative Al tools were used to generate core research findings, original data, or final authorial judgments.

The Future Ready Series

2025:1 - Integrating Human Capability Standards into Higher Education: Future-Ready Learning Pathways

2025:2 The Value of Micro-Credentials to Employers and Learners

Forthcoming white paper topics in the 2025 series:

From Recognition to Results: Verifying the Impact of Micro-Credentials on a Capability-Driven Workforce and Talent Strategy Building Lifelong, Personalised Learning Pathways



Capability.Co was founded in 2020 by a group of people with a common passion to unleash human potential

We are a mix of over 20 academics, educators, HR experts, industry consultants and entrepreneurs. We believe that we are all much more than our current jobs. We have hidden skills, deep passions and an enormous opportunity to impact the future in the right role.

Connect with us to learn more

capability.cc

LinkedIr